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Wark on Tyne

PART ONE: THE STORY OF WARK ON TYNE

1 INTRODUCTION

11 Project Background

Towns and villages have been the focus of settlement in this country for many hundreds of
years. Beneath our workplaces, beneath our houses and gardens, streets and shops i
beneath our feet i there are archaeological remains which can tell us how these settlements
were once arranged and how people went about their lives. Awareness and appreciation of
this resource can enhance our sense of place and identity and help us understand how the
past has directly shaped our present and how we can benefit from it in the shaping of our
future. To ensure that evidence for our urban past is not needlessly lost during development
local and national government have put in place a range of statutory designations and policies
to make sure that valuable remains are protected, preserved and understood.

In 1992, English Heritage published a national policy to help planners and developers deal
with urban archaeology and any issues that might arise during the planning process
(Managing the Urban Archaeological Resource). This led to the Extensive Urban Survey
programme, where funds were made available to individual planning authorities to prepare
material to explain how archaeology fits into the planning process and how issues raised can
be best resolved. Wark on Tyne is one of 20 towns in Northumberland to have been

reviewed, the results appearing in the following report which is divided into three main parts:

Part 1 summarises the development of Wark using documentary, cartographic and
archaeological sources, and examines the evidence for the survival of archaeological
remains in the town.

Part 2 assesses the detailed archaeological potential of the town of Wark and how
development could, potentially, impact on significant archaeological resources which
are of both national and local significance.

Part 3 looks at the national and local planning process with regard to archaeology and
is designed to give the developer, planner, and general public, the framework within

which development in an historic town will normally proceed.

The present survey (fig 2) encompasses almost the full extent of the town of Wark. Material
within this report includes information available on the Northumberland Historic Environment
Record (HER) at the time this report was updated. Information on the HER is constantly being
updated and should be used as the primary source for historical and archaeological

information.
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Figure 2: Study Area (purple line), Listed Buildings (pink)

1.2 Location, G eology and Topography

The village of Wark on Tyne is located on the west bank of the River North Tyne just above its
confluence with the Warks Burn and on a sand and gravel terrace between 86m and 90m OD.
The valley of the North Tyne is broad at this point with woodland along the river edge; the

landscape beyond largely pastoral with scattered farmsteads and small villages.

The settlement liesarounda 6 T 6 formeddy thed36320 - which runs along the west
bank of the river between Chollerford, four miles to the south and Bellingham five miles to the
north - and a minor road which runs up the east side of the river before crossing at Wark. The
presence of this crossing, initially a ford, must have been a major influence on the site of any
settlement, as would have been a prominent plateau, Mote Hill, just to the south of the
crossing, a naturally defensible position and one which seems to have been enhanced during
the 12" century as an earthwork castle.

Modern Wark, which extends as far north as the 19" century Presbyterian chapel (HER 7810),

once a building remote from the village, and as far south as the western flank of Mote Hill, still
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focuses on Main Street (the east-west route running from the bridgehead), the green, and the
60TO6 junct i evineretMain Stréetis bwtiedsby Hexham Road.

The area around Wark is underlain by a solid geology of sedimentary rocks of Carboniferous
age. These form a succession of beds of limestone, sandstone and shale, with intervening
seams of thin coal which can be quite localised. Superficial Boulder clays and sands and
gravels formed during the recession of the last Ice Age and by subsequent postglacial
outwash mask these earlier rocks. Mote Hill was formed at this period as a drumlin and is
made up of contorted bands of gravels and sands. Terraces have been formed along the

valley above flat haughlands.

1.3 Brief History

People will have lived in and moved through the valley of the North Tyne since the end of the
last Ice Age. Despite this, there is little evidence for Mesolithic and Neolithic occupation in the
area. But the landscape is dotted with remains left by people of the later Bronze Age. Much
of this evidence is for burials, a number have been found close to Wark. Other Bronze-Age
remains a little further afield include a stone circle known as the Goatstones and an

unenclosed settlement consisting of a number of roundhouses, both to the south-west.

The absence of defences around early and middle Bronze Age settlements over the region is
notable. By the late Bronze Age and early Iron Age, though, settlements in the area were
enclosed, suggesting worsening security. Evidence for what is known as a palisaded
enclosure, probably of this period, lies below a later Romano-British farmstead near Bridge
House, just beyond Wark Common to the west-north-west of Wark. The later Romano-British
settlement was characteristic of numerous enclosed farmsteads of this period lying in the
uplands bordering the North Tyne, mostly rectangular in plan, surrounded by a low wall or
bank and an external ditch with an access track or causeway running through one side of the
defences and yards and roundhouses within. These sites are frequent and the landscape of
the uplands bordering the North Tyne would have been much more populous than today.

There is no certain evidence for a settlement at Wark before the 12" century when Wark
became the centre o r 6 oofathe Ldrdéhip of Tynedale. This was administered by Scottish
Kings up until the death of Alexander Ill in 1286 and not fully integrated into the rest of
Northumberland until the late 15" century. An earthwork castle - a motte or a motte and bailey
- is thought to have been constructed at Wark on Mote Hill and a prison and assizes for the
lordship lay somewhere within the settlement (and the remains of what may have been a very
substantial medieval tower within the village were uncovered by workmen in 1804). In 1296,
Edward | annexed the lordship of Tynedale during his invasion of Scotland. It was not for
many years that the border was stabilised and the North Tyne became an area of endemic

lawlessness and reiving until well into the 17" century.
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The Barony of Wark was sold by the Radcliffe family to the Earl of Derwentwater. His estates,
including Wark, were confiscated by the crown in 1715 after his part in the Jacobite Rebellion.
The lands were passed on to the Commissioners of the Greenwich Hospital in 1775 who
invested in roads and buildings and some agricultural improvement. There was also coal
mining nearby at Sutty Row near Birtley, although Wark never took on the aspect of an
industrial settlement it did have a Mechanics Institute. The estate was sold to the Duke of
Northumberland in 1833 who continued local improvements. The Border Counties Railway
arrived at Wark in 1859. It greatly facilitated communications and commerce along the North
Tyne; a sheep market was established in Wark in 1860 and by the early 20th century the
settlement was an important service centre for the valley and had 14 shops. the service role
of Wark in the valley has now declined. The livestock market closed in 1947 and the railway
was shut down in 1956.

1.4 Documentary and Secondary Sources

Research on the town in this survey beganwith a revi ew of i nformation held
Historic Environment Record (HER). For Wark this was largely based on antiquarian
observations and archival material from as early as medieval times. Although its character as
an administrative centre in the medieval period is documented, there is very little evidence
directly relating to the extent or form of Wark. One of the effects of the independent status of
the Liberty of Tynedale was that it was excluded from the Lay Subsidy of 1296 and thus from
one of the most valuable surviving sources of information about the size and density of
settlement in medieval Northumberland (Haigh and Savage 1984, 52). The earliest surviving
detailed survey to include Wark is the 1604 survey of debatable lands which followed the
union of the crowns; however, this survey does mention an earlier survey of the lordship of
War k by Henry VI ind495, whicmisninfortumately reow lsst (Dodds 1940,
285).

The history of Wark is covered in Volume 15 of the Northumberland County History, (Dodds
1940) and in Hodgson's History of Northumberland (Vol. Il part Ill) and mentioned in
Tomlinson's Guide to Northumberland (1888). More recent secondary sources are of limited
value, providing summaries of information presented in these earlier histories. Some
interesting photographic evidence for Wark at the beginning of this century is provided in
Roberts and West (1998). Bleay's 1977 history of Wark has some useful information on the
19th and 20th century changes of use of properties to and from commercial and domestic

use.

15 Cartographic Sources
Wark is represented on Armstrong's map of Northumberland of 1769 by buildings on Mote Hill

and a building each side of the road leading to the river crossing. This is at best a schematic
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representation of the village since a more detailed plan, of the same date, shows a more
complex picture. A Plan of Warkes Fell and Warks Common, a correct copy of the plan of
Works Fell 1769 (NRO ZHE 61/6) is the earliest surviving dated map of Wark village. It shows
the manor house on Mote Hill with a road immediately to the north leading to a ford across the
North Tyne en route to Birtley. To the north of this road is an open area called Wark Grounds.
An east-west road turns northwards when it reaches the river. Buildings are marked on this
road, which reflect the form still taken by the village today. Buildings are located around three
sides of a small area of open ground, and some buildings are shown on each side of the road
as it leads to the west. An undated Plan of Wark Township (NRO ZHE 61/3) shows fewer
properties around the three sides of the area of open ground, and along the road to the west
but more properties along the road leading to the south than the map dated 1769. This map
included the names of the property owners, which may demonstrate that the map dates to the
early 19th century. Other plans include a Survey by Fryer copied by Thomas Bell in 1809
(NRO Zan Bell 34/2) and an undated post-medieval plan showing Wark Common (NRO Zan
Bell 34/4). An undated post-medieval plan of the collieries and enclosures in Simonburn
Common in dispute between Simonburn Castle Demesne Manor and Wark Manor does not
show the village in any detail (NRO ZAL 89/1/2). The form of the village changed in the 19"

century and this is apparent on the First Edition Ordnance survey of about 1860.

1.6 Archaeological Evidence

There have been no archaeological interventions in the village proper. A number of projects
have been carried out on Mote Hill, though, to accompany residential development works on
the farm and farm ranges. These are listed in Appendix 3.

1.7 Protected Sites
The study area includes seven listed buildings, all Grade II. Wark is not a Conservation Area
and there are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments.
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2 PREHISTORIC AND ROMAN

2.1 Mesolithic to Romano -British

People will have lived in and moved through the valley of the North Tyne since the end of the
last Ice Age, from which time the valley must also have provided a seasonal route way for
animals moving down to the Tyne Gap and to winter grazing. The tracking of this seasonal
movement of animals by human hunters possibly presaged the later transhumance of
domesticated herds - shieling - which became such a feature of the area. Despite this, there
is little certain evidence for Mesolithic and Neolithic occupation in the vicinity apart from a
probably late Neolithic cup-and-ring marked stone at Ravensheugh Crags to the south west of
Wark. But the landscape is thickly dotted with remains left during the succeeding Bronze Age.
Much of this evidence is for burials. Locally, a burial cairn and a burial mound were found in
the 18" century to the north of Wark (HER 7754), and in 1864-5 another burial mound was
discovered just across the North Tyne at Warks Haugh (HER 7753). This was excavated at
the time and found to contain four graves; a stone lined coffin included a pottery vessel and
the remains of a cremation, another grave a pottery vessel and a flint knife. Two graves were
empty, all remains of the occupants having long since decayed and turned to dust. Another
apparently single burial was found close by at Warksburn (HER 7755). When excavated, only
one jet bead was found and no evidence of human remains. Other aspects of the rich
Bronze-Age culture lie a little further afield. The Goatstones to the south-west of Wark (HER
7833; SAM No. 25065) is a stone circle with four surviving uprights, one of which is incised
with cup and ring marks. It stands on a knoll at the south-west end of Ravensheugh Crags
with a possibly earlier burial cairn at the centre. And the remains of an unenclosed settlement
of the Bronze Age lie near Manor House (HER 7701; SAM No. 25104). Like the Goatstones,
this also sits on a high point. Although it is unenclosed, a number of still well-defined hut

circles crowd together with only one standing remote to the south.

The absence of defences around early and middle Bronze Age settlements within the region is
notable. By the late Bronze Age and early Iron Age, though, settlements were enclosed; they
were more troubled times. Evidence for what is known as a palisaded enclosure, probably of
this period, lies below a later Romano-British farmstead near Bridge House (HER 7700) just
beyond Wark Common to the north-west of Wark. This site was excavated by the
archaeologist George Jobey in the 1950s. The later and overlying Romano-British settlement
was characteristic of numerous enclosed farmsteads of this period lying in the uplands
bordering the North Tyne such as at Leek Hill (HER 7698; SAM No. 25077), Hole Farm (HER
7712; SAM No. 25072) and closer but now lost examples at Pasture House (HER 7757), just
to the north-west of Wark, and Shield Law (HER 7747) which lay on a hill on the north bank of
Gofton Burn to the south-west of the village. They were mostly rectangular in plan,
surrounded by a low wall or bank and an external ditch with an access track or causeway

running through one side of the def e mtraay,

t her e

wer
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probably for stock, and always roundhouses. These native sites are frequent, and the modern
bleak and empty uplands away from the river would have been, in those times as in the
Bronze Age, both populous and cultivated.

Tomlinson speculated that Mote Hill just to the southofWar k was the site of an
sett | €1888,12040by which he presumably meant an Iron Age hillfort. There is no strong

reason to think that this was the case (Dodds 1940, 37). Certainly, no evidence of prehistoric

activity has as yet come to light from the hill despite two recent archaeological interventions on

the site (Events No 13254 (evaluation) and No 13621 (watching brief) between 2003/5.

s = i il

Figure 3: Prehistoric Wark (blue)

2.2 The Roman Militar y Presence

Ha d r i a ndnd Chigteis fort and bridge near Chollerford lie only five miles to the south of
Wark, but there is little evidence for Roman military interest in the North Tyne. Dere Street,
cutting northwards from the military base at Corbridge and then along Redesdale was the
main arterial route to Scotland, appended with humerous forts and camps. A Roman altar

stone was discovered serving as a stile at Mote Hill in the 19th century (HER 7751). Itis

o
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probably an example of the widespread reuse of Roman material common throughout the
region and could have been brought from a number of sites.

3 EARLY MEDIEVAL

There is no physical evidence for early-medieval occupation at Wark. This does not
necessarily mean that there was no such occupation, only that it has not as yet been located.
Historically, Wark was a chapelry of the parish of Simonburn, possibly founded by Bishop
Walcher of Durham in the mid-11th century (Ward Davis 1972, 4). The church at Simonburn -
four miles from Wark - contains some even earlier stone fragments including part of a cross
shaft of the 9" century and part of an 8" century frieze with baluster mouldings.

Placename evidence may also indicate early settlement at Wark. The name probably derives
fromthe AngloSaxon &éweor c 6 .oHowdves, thé name does hoit need to have been
applied to the settlement any earlier than post-Conquest times. It has also been suggested
that Wark can be identified with Scytlesceastre, the place where Aelfwald, King of
Northumbria was murdered in AD788 (Dodds 1940, 17-18) but there seems little if any reason
to pursue this.

4 MEDIEVAL WARK

4.1 The Liberty of Tynedale

Parts of the present counties of Northumberland and Cumbria were for a considerable time
after the Norman Conquest, as they had been for a considerable time before, a zone of
dispute between England and Scotland. The Liberty, Regality or Franchise of Tynedale, which
extended across 200,000 acres of Northumberland and encompassed the valleys of the North
Tyne, the South Tyne and the Allen was, at least in part, a product of this dispute, created
shortly after 1157 as part of an agreement between Henry Il of England and Malcolm IV of
Scotland following a period of hostility between the two states. In effect, it compensated
William, the younger brother of the Scottish King, for his loss of the Earldom of
Northumberland (the centre of which had been at Wark). Until the death of Alexander 11l in
1286, the liberty was administered and controlled by Scottish Kings although in accordance
with English not Scottish law. Its head or caput was Wark. How the liberty was administered,
at least in its latter days, is revealed in the record of the Eyre conducted by four Justices of the
Scottish Crown in 1279 and 1280 at Wark. After 1286, The Liberty was itself the subject of
continuing Anglo/Scottish dispute, and Robert Bruce held the area for a considerable period
over the 14" century during the ineffective reign of Edward Il. Major military campaigns

between the two countries over that century were slowly superseded by intermittent forays and
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border raids which took on a more clannish, more personal, and just as destructive a nature
as fully state-sponsored war. Disharmony continued well into the 7" century and, in many

forms, beyond.

\ -
—— i
———
- W\

Figure 4: Medieval Wark: motte and bailey (blue), pele tower/prison (pink)

In the medieval period Warkwasan admi ni strative centre and the hea
Liberty of Tynedale. This was administered by Scottish Kings up until the death of Alexander
IIl'in 1286, and not fully integrated into the rest of Northumberland until 1495. An earthwork
castle i a motte or a motte and bailey - is thought to have been constructed at Wark on Mote
Hill. And a gaol and assizes for the lordship lay somewhere within the settlement. In 1296,
Edward | annexed Tynedale during his invasion of Scotland, although it continued to be
administered as an independent liberty. The effectiveness of the English administration
fluctuated during the succeeding years and for some years after the death of Edward | and the
defeat at Bannockburn, Robert Bruce had control of Tynedale. It was not for many years that
the border was stabilised. Military campaigns were simply replaced by skirmishes and a
succession of border raids that continued at least into the 16th century (Haigh and Savage
1984, 51).
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4.2 Components of Medieval Wark
Bailiffs rolls prepared when the Liberty of Tynedale was under Scottish control, and latterly
under Edward | following the death of Alexander lll, provide some insight into the settlement at

Wark as do entries from the Iter of Wark, prepared during the assizes of 1279.

4.3 Properties

Documents refer to properties in the medieval settlement at Wark. There was, for instance, a
capital messuage (tr@nslateabledas manor house) with a garden, all held by the bailiff, as well
as demesne lands which covered approximately 104 acres and were let to various types of
tenant - free, in bondage, cotters etc. (Hartshorne 1858, 255) indicative of a permanent village
settlement. Features mentioned in Bailiff Rolls are a prison, bakehouse, a brewery, a forge
and fulling and a water (presumably corn) mill. There was also a deer park which lay a little
way to the south of the village. Later sources mentionapeletowerand t he o6 agignear ancebd
old manor and fortress. None of the buildings mentioned survive above ground or can be
certainly located. A notable omission amongst any records is specific reference to a castle on
Mote Hill.

4.4 Mote Hill (HER 7746)

Mote Hill, a relatively flat-topped plateau with steep edges to all sides, lies immediately to the
south of the village of Wark and the bridging point of the river. The Warks Burn runs into the
North Tyne a little to the south of the hill, a confluence which may have provided the name of

the feature 6 mo t An@jlo $azon for a meeting place, possibly of the waters.

Mote Hill Farm, mostly of 18" and 19" century date but with one building in its ranges dating to
the 17" century (see Appendix 3 for Event no 320) covers the north-west quarter of the
plateau and succeeds a post-medieval manor house constructed by Francis Radcliffe in the
1660s and 1670s. The hill, and specifically the area around the farm, is thought to be the
location of a motte and bailey castle, or at least a motte, possibly constructed as the seat of
Prince Henry of Scotland who was created Earl of Northumberland in 1139 and presumably
utilised as a defensive work during the time Wark was within the Liberty of Tynedale after
1157, although of the medieval references to defensive works at Wark, none specifically
mention Mote Hill. Two modern published accounts describe earthworks on Motte Hill
surviving around the mid-20" century; Dodds mentions ¢parts of an outer rampart still to be
traced in short sectionsonthenorthand sout hé (Dodds 1940Blar37) ampl i fi
who ...two fragments of banks are still visible, one on the north side against the wall
surrounding the stockyard, and the other at the south-east corner of the hill-top and also
menti oned ¢hhevieendnbtte and bailey can...be traced as a shallow depression
crossing the farmyardé ( Hu nt er B42)a Nane of tBededrthworkstot depressions
described is necessarily associated with a motte or a motte and bailey. The elusive nature of

theeart hworks is reinforced by the absence of any r e
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One Mile Ordnance Survey maps, the surveyors for which were normally so assiduous in
recording earthworks. A general assessment of the site by Ryder in 2002 concluded that the
evidence for the castle was not certain (event No ???). Archaeological evaluation prior to
conversion of the farm ranges on the hill to residential use (Event No 13254), and an
archaeological watching brief (Event No 13612) during these redevelopments between 2003-
2005 also failed to locate any earthwork build up or artefactual evidence to confirm the
interpretation of the site. It is possible that the motte has now been completely levelled, or that
it lies elsewhere on the plateau. Terraces on the south slope of the hill could possibly be of

some age.

4.5 A Prison

A prison is mentioned in the Wark b a i | dll fof 1868-4. rA later roll for 1286-90 includes the
expenses of repairs to its fabric (Dodds 1940, 282-3). In 1293 the jailer forfeited a messuage
and eight acres of land for letting a prisoner escape (Dodds 1940, 283). The prison will have
functioned within the administrative role of the caput and will have held convicts and felons
waiting for trial at the assizes. No location for the prison is given. There is ho evidence to

suggest it was on Mote Hill.

In 1399, a pele at Wark (HER 7815) is mentioned and a tower there was held by Sir Thomas

Greyin 1415. The fapparanced0 of an ol d ma n saiscomentianedbytheor t r es s

Commissioners of 1541 (Dodds 1940, 282). It is thought unlikely that this tower stood on the

same site as the castle (Hunter Blair 1944, 143).

4.6 Buried Building

In 1804, when land was being levellediii n fr ont of some, Wakiméndi ng

reportedly came across a buried building, 30 feet square with walls 8 feet thick, 14 feet deep,
with no windows or doors and a flagged floor (Mackenzie 1825, 244). Although Mackenzie
does not give a specific location for the levelling activity, he later discusses Mote Hill as a
clearly different location. A local belief was that a tower stood in the north-west corner of the

green, where a heap of stone reused for building was found (Bleay 1977, 14).

Whether the ruins represented a prison or a tower is unknown (it may of course have been
both). In a rather difficult comment, Dodds considered that the ruins may have been a
combination of prison and judgeds | odgings
substantial building had been completed and used, it could not have passed without record
(1940, 283).

4.7 Ford (HER 7799)
There was no bridge across the North Tyne at Wark until the 19" century but there had been a

fording point long before then. The earliest known location of the ford is shown on Thomas

in

but

i s

t he
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Bell 6 s rhap 6f9arks Fell. It lay to the south of the present bridge and just north of Mote
Hill.

4.8 Mils ( HER6s 7800 and 7801)

There were a number of mills in Medieval Wark. The bai | i f f 6 s-4 memtiohs a mib r
which had been preserved from destructive floods by changing the course of the Warks Burn
(HER7800)( Dodds 1940, 2 8 309f1286M0 mcordsaprofits fiorh thesfullingalill|
(HER 7801) and the water mill (Dodds 1940, 283). The Iter of Wark in 1279 mentions the rent
for the mill at Wark, but gives no indication of its location (Hartshorne 1858, 255). There is no
evidence for a specific location for either mill although one was clearly located somewhere
within the flood plain of the Warks Burn.

4.9 Bakehouse (HER 7802)
The bai |l i f f90recordsmtofits fran2 tBethakehouse (Dodds 1940, 283). There is no
evidence for a specific location.

4.8 Chapel (HER 7748)

Simonburn parish, of which Wark was a part, may have been formed by Bishop Walcher of
Durham in the mid-11th century, with Simonburn as the main parish church and several
smaller chapels (Ward Davis 1972, 4). The parish of Simonburn was certainly present by
1229, when Alexander Il made Master Matthew, Archdeacon of Cleveland, the rector. Wark
was one of the chapelries of Simonburn parish, and in 1360 shared a chaplain with Haughton
(Hodgson 1832, fn103).

There was a chapel at Wark during the medieval period which fell into decay after the
Reformation. The chapel has now been lost although its ruins were visible into quite recent
times. In 1760 Bishop Pocoke on his tour of the area wrote:

We passed by Wark chapel which is almost in ruins.... almost four miles
from Simonsburn church; what remains is an old building and seems to
have been larger, there are two arches supported by a sort of Doric
octagonal pillars now filled up with part of the north wall; half a mile
beyond it is the village of Warke...

(Dodds 1940, 296).

At least as late as 1825 the ruins were visible, as mentioned by Mackenzie. But by the time

the First Edition Ordnance Survey was prepared, all evidence seems to have gone.

The location of the chapel is uncertain, although Tomlinson mentioned that dhe ruined arches
ofan aisl e stililrkrfenedidn i838h2DE). Ardiekfiell ieg about one

1263



Wark on Tyne 16

mile north of Wark village and, although there are no visible remains, the medieval chapel

may have stood here. While it is possible that the position of the chapel at a distance from the

modern village may be an indication that Wark was once a much larger settlement (Tomlinson

al so says that o6étraditiond suggest ed,thtvaisdo had once
substantive supporting evidence for this proposition and it is more likely remote because

chapels in Tynedale served a dispersed population.

4.9 Wark Park (HER 7803)

Just over half a mile south of Wark, and outside the study area, is the former location of Wark
Park. This was a deer park, first mentioned in 1293 and then again in 1307 when it was given
by Edward Ill to Robert de Cotingham, Rector of Simonburn. The area remained imparked

until about 1565, in which year leases of the land were granted (Dodds 1940, 287).

4.10 Form and Extent of Medieval Wark

While there is evidence of the early importance of Wark as an administrative centre, this does
not necessarily indicate a large settlement. The Iter of Wark of 1279, indicates that the bailiff
held a messuage with a garden and that about 104 acres of demesne were let out to tenants,
but their numbers and the form and layout of properties is not known. There is certainly no

indication of surviving burgage type properties.

A post-medieval ford lay just to the north of Mote Hill to the south of the bridge. The location
of the medieval ford is unknown, but it would seem likely that the focus of any early settlement
was associated with the crossing and that the present form of the village, set around a

rectangular green on a road leading to the later bridge, could be a relatively late development.

The few (probably) identifiable features of the medieval village are widely spread. The location
of a mill in the flood plain of the Warks Burn indicates it lay to the south of the village and the

chapel, if within the present Kirkfield, lay well to the north.

5 POST-MEDIEVAL

51 Context of the Settlement

Over much of the 16" century reiving was endemic in the area and the inhabitants of North
Tynedale became renowned both for their fighting qualities and their lawlessness. The
English Government felt that inhabitants of the valley were often more closely linked to
Scotland than England. It is very unlikely that any significant development of the village
occurred. Little is known of the form of buildings at this time but it can be imagined that most

were defensible.
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Over much of this period the Manor or barony of Wark belonged to the Radcliffe family before
being sold to the Earl of Derwentwater. This estate was confiscated by the crown in 1715
after Der vwarnirtthveddcabite ®Rebellion. The lands were eventually sold to the
Commissioners and Governors of Greenwich Hospital ratified by an Act of Parliament in 1775.
In 1765 Wark Common was enclosed and improved. The Commissioners invested in roads

and buildings and a colliery was established close by at Sutty Row near Birtley.

5.2 Mote Hill and the Rad cliffe Manor House (HER 7746)

A manor house was erected on the site of Wark Castle by Sir Francis Radcliffe, who acquired
the land in 1665. A door head bearing the date 1676 is incorporated in one of the 19" century
farm buildings and is believed to represent re-used material from the 17" century manor

house.

Building recording (Ryder 1994; Event No 13620), an archaeological watching brief (Event No
13612), and an archaeological evaluation (Event No 13254) have been carried out on the farm
buildings and the site during alterations and new developments. So far no evidence of the
medieval castle or 17" century manor house has been found here. With the exception of the
farmhouse in the south-east corner of the yard, with rubble walling in its rear elevation, none of
the farm buildings recording by Ryder shows any characteristics to suggest a pre-1800 date,
although other buildings outside of this survey may incorporate earlier architectural remains
(Pers Comm, P Ryder, 1994-5 and 1999).

5.3 Inns

The Black Bull Inn (HER 7805) is marked on the First Edition Ordnance Survey but the
building may date back to at least the 18" century as a structure is shown in this position on
the 1769 map. The premises were first licensed in 1831 (Roberts and West 1998, 18) and it
has been extended and altered a number of times.

The Highland Drove (HER 7806), previously called The Drove of Cattle, is now a dwelling
house. As its name suggests it had previously been used as a drovers inn, with stabling to the
rear. Visually, this building could date from the 18th century; it does not appear on the 1769
map of the village but does appear on the Plan of Warke Township, which may be late 18" or

early 19" century in date.

Battlesteads (HER 7807) is shown on the First Edition Ordnance Survey map and is a public
house today. It may originally have been a farm as a building is marked in this location on the
1769 map and in 1889 William Charlton was the owner of a farm called Battlesteads (Roberts
and West 1998, 19).
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Figure 5: Post-Medieval and 19" century Wark: village (blue), Mote Hill (purple)

5.4 School (HER 7793)

Now called The Old School, the schoolhouse was built by the Governors of the Greenwich
Hospital in the 18" century (Mackenzie 1825, 244). It was restored and extended in 1805 and
is now a private house and a Grade Il Listed Building.

55 Village Form

The post-medieval village seems to have developed along the east-west road, now called
Main Street, with the green on the north of this street and running to the riverside.
Cartographic evidence suggests that by the mid-18" century Wark comprised properties
spaced around the small green and sparsely lining the routes through the village (A Plan of
Warkes Fell and Warks Common 1769 (NRO ZHE 61/6)). Ar mstrongds map of the
does not show a green, but this is only a very schematic representation of the settlement; the
green is shown on all subsequent maps. Wark was still a fording and not a bridging point over
the North Tyne. Once Wark Manor was sold to the Greenwich Hospital Commissioners, then
additional development occurred. Towards the end of the 18th century the village grew in size
and population. A map showing collieries belonging to Greenwich Hospital and Robert

Lancelot Allgood, lying immediately to the south of Wark, suggests that development of the



